**RECEIVED**

**Jun 14 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Colleton County

Honorable Thomas W. Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JERMAINE SILAS WHITE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-000452

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

SARAH E. SHIPE  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the trial court abuse its discretion allowing Detective Kevin Kinard to opine regarding (1) statements made by Lennon Poland in Officer Ballard's body worn camera video and (2) statements made by appellant in his recorded jail phone call where the evidence had been played for the jury and both recordings were nearly unintelligible, because it was improper opinion testimony by a lay witness in violation of Rule 701(a), SCRE?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 28, 2019, appellant was indicted by a Colleton County grand jury for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 347 Appellant was tried April 19-21, 2021, before the Honorable Thomas W. Cooper, Jr., and a jury. R. 1. David Matthews represented appellant. R. 1. Ceth Utsey, assistant solicitor, and Reed Evans, assistant solicitor, represented the state. R. 1.

The jury found appellant guilty of murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 342. Judge Cooper sentenced appellant to concurrent terms of thirty-five years' imprisonment for murder and five years' imprisonment for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 345.

This appeal follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006); *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001); *State v. Wood*, 362 S.C. 520, 525, 608 S.E.2d 435, 438 (Ct. App. 2004). Appellate courts are bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *State v. Quattlebaum*, 338 S.C. 441, 454, 527 S.E.2d 105, 111 (2000); *State v. Williams*, 326 S.C. 130, 135, 485 S.E.2d 99, 102 (19997); *State v. Patterson*, 367 S.C. 219, 224, 625 S.E.2d 239, 241 (Ct. App. 2006); *State v. Landis*, 362 S.C. 97, 101, 606 S.E.2d 503, 505 (Ct. App. 2004).

The admissibility of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial judge. *State v. Mansfield*, 343 S.C. 66, 77, 538 S.E.2d 257, 263 (Ct. app. 2000); *State v. Patterson*, 337 S.C. 215, 228, 522 S.E.2d 845, 851 (Ct. App. 1999). Evidentiary rulings of the trial court will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion or the commission of legal error which results in prejudice to the defendant. *Mansfield*, 343 S.C. at 77, 538 S.E.2d at 263.

## ARGUMENT

The trial court abused its discretion by allowing Detective Kevin Kinard to opine regarding (1) statements made by Lennon Poland in Officer Ballard's body worn camera video and (2) statements made by appellant in his recorded jail phone call where the evidence had been played for the jury and both recordings were nearly unintelligible, because it was improper opinion testimony by a lay witness in violation of Rule 701(a), SCRE.

### **Relevant facts**

On July 15, 2018, Lennon Poland was shot in the back of the head in the area behind Williams Seafood in Walterboro, South Carolina. R. 74-75. Poland died nine days later July 24, 2018. R. 216. This area, locally called "the hole," was a place where many people congregated to buy, sell, and use drugs. R. 78.

Officer William Ballard responded to the scene and activated his body worn camera.<sup>1</sup> Ballard found Poland conscious, sitting in a chair and bystander, Mark McQuine a few feet from Poland. R. 91-97. In the video from Ballard's body worn camera, McQuine immediately named appellant as the individual that shot Poland and shortly after Poland said appellant's last name. R. 11, ll. 15-21; Court's exhibit 7. McQuine also informed Ballard that appellant left in a brown car. R. 19, ll. 24-25; 62, ll. 15-16; Court's exhibit 7. Another individual claiming to be a bystander Edwin McCord named appellant as the shooter. R. 12, ll. 8-14; 261, l. 23-262, l. 7. However, McQuine and McCord gave conflicting statements to police and both men told police

---

<sup>1</sup> Court's exhibit 7, includes three electronic files (1) the unredacted video from Ballard's body worn camera (2) video downloaded from Ballard's dash camera from his car, and (3) a recording of one of appellant's jail phone calls. State's exhibit 2, is video from Ballard's body worn camera redacted for trial. Both court's exhibit 7 and state's exhibit 2 are on file with this Court.

the other did not witness the shooting.<sup>2</sup> R. 12, ll. 2-16; 30, ll. 17-25. Also found at the scene was a single .25 caliber shell casing located near where Poland was sitting. R. 175, ll. 23-24.

The following day appellant was arrested at his father's home where he lived. During a search of the home police found a .25 caliber handgun and magazine, a box of .25 caliber ammunition, and a damaged cell phone. R. 185-188.

Before trial, defense counsel made a motion in limine to suppress the video downloaded from Ballard's body worn camera arguing the identification of appellant in the video was hearsay and unreliable. R. 12-19; 39-44.

In court's exhibit 7, the unredacted video downloaded from Ballard's body worn camera, when Ballard arrives, the following audio can be heard:

**McQune:** Man, Jermaine shot that [expletive], man.

**Ballard:** Jermaine?

**McQune:** Jermaine White, Silas White's son.

**Ballard:** Where'd he go?

**McQune:** (unintelligible) little brown car.

**Ballard:** (to dispatch) Central I got a GSW to the back of the head. Notify chain and an investigator, I need them on scene. (to Poland) Stay still, boss, stay still. (to dispatch) Did I tell you who the victim is?

**Poland:** White

**Ballard:** (to Poland) No, no, no. You're good. (to dispatch) That's gonna be Lennon Poland. Suspect is gonna be Jermaine Silas White. He's already GOA. Left in a brown car.

Court's exhibit 7, body worn camera video, timestamp 1:40-2:40.

---

<sup>2</sup> The state did not call McQune to testify at trial. R. 16, ll. 7-21; 51, ll. 10-11. McCord testified under threat of being held in contempt and going to jail. R. 260, l. 11-261, l. 6.

Defense counsel argued McQune's statements in the video were inadmissible hearsay because McQune later admitted he did not witness the incident and was repeating what he was told by an individual that had witnessed the incident. R. 12. Defense counsel argued Poland's statements in the video were also inadmissible hearsay. Poland's statement of "White," was prompted by McQune's hearsay statement, naming appellant. Additionally, defense counsel argued that Poland was shot directly in the back of the head and it was impossible for him to have seen who shot him. Therefore, Poland's statement did not have the normal indicia of reliability that attaches to a dying declaration. Defense counsel also asserted the video was more prejudicial than probative and should be suppressed. R. 12-14; 39-40.

The state admitted McQune was not an eye or ear witness to the shooting but argued his statements should be admitted as an excited utterance because McQune walked up shortly after the incident. R. 15, ll. 6-22. The state contended Poland's statements were admissible as dying declarations. R. 15-17.

The court ruled McQune's initial statement to Ballard where he named appellant was inadmissible hearsay and ruled Poland's statements were admissible under the dying declaration exception to hearsay. R. 18-20; 43; 60-61. The state muted the portion of the video where McQune names appellant on state's exhibit 2, which was played for the jury during trial.

The state's theory at trial was that appellant shot and killed Poland because he believed Poland was working as an informant for law enforcement. R. 44; 217-219. The solicitor, during opening statements, told the jury it would hear "the voice of Lennon Poland himself calling out the name of a man that would take his life." R. 76, ll. 4-7. During Officer Ballard's testimony the trial court admitted state's exhibit 2, video downloaded from Ballard's body worn camera. R. 97. Ballard also testified that Poland said appellant's name numerous times and added that

when Ballard told dispatch appellant's name Poland nonverbally agreed that he was relaying the correct information. R. 98, l. 22-99, l. 1; 106, l. 23-107, l. 5. During cross-examination, Ballard admitted appellant's brother Desi White was a regular at "the hole." R. 111, l. 23-112, l. 19.

Also, at trial the state entered state's exhibit 17, three separate clips of one of appellant's jail calls. R.173.<sup>3</sup> The three clips played at trial were two and a half minutes of a fifteen-minute conversation appellant had with his girlfriend at the time. Additionally, a ballistics expert opined that to a reasonable degree of scientific certainty they believed that the shell casing recovered from the scene was fired by the gun recovered from appellant's father's home. R. 279.

McCord reluctantly testified that he saw appellant shoot Poland after being warned by the trial court that if he did not testify he would be held in contempt. However, he acknowledged that he was using a "good bit" of crack cocaine at the time of the incident. McCord also conceded appellant and his brother Desi White could be mistaken for one another. R. 262-268.

Kevin Kinard, the lead officer in the case testified that as part of his investigation that he reviewed all the evidence in the case including state's exhibit 2, Ballard's body worn camera video, and state's exhibit 17, three short clips from appellant's recorded jail phone call. During his testimony the following exchange occurred between Kinard and the solicitor:

**Solicitor:** You reviewed – as part of your investigation and certainly earlier today at trial you saw and heard Mr. Ballard's body camera video, correct?

**Kinard:** I did

...

**Solicitor:** What, if anything, did you learn from the video that Mr. Poland said on that video?

---

<sup>3</sup> State's exhibit 17, three clips from appellant's jail phone call is on file with this Court. Additionally, the entire phone call is included in court's exhibit 7, which is on file with this Court.

**Kinard:** Right. At one point in the video Ballard asked him, like why he did it, or he keeps mumbling, eating the cheese. Like he thinks I'm telling, eating the cheese, some reference to that.

**Solicitor:** And did that mean anything to you in your training and experience?

**Kinard:** It does. I mean, telling and then eating the cheese is a common term for, if you're a rat, or like a snitch or telling on somebody or like you know you would be talking to the police over some issues.

...

**Solicitor:** Rat and snitch are street words for informant?

**Kinard:** Correct.

**Solicitor:** And did you listen to the jail phone calls?

**Kinard:** I did.

**Solicitor:** One of which we played earlier?

**Kinard:** I did.

**Solicitor:** What, if anything, did you hear in that jail phone call?

**Defense:** Objection, your honor. I think that's in evidence and we can all make our own conclusions on that.

**Court:** you can refer to what part of it he's talking about, but it will speak for itself. It's already in evidence. It was already played.

R. 216, l. 24-219, l. 4; R. 218, 3-8.

Immediately following the court's admonishment, the following occurred:

**Solicitor:** Did you hear Mr. White refer to Mr. Poland as FBI?

**Kinard:** I did.

**Solicitor:** What does that mean to you?

R. 218, ll. 9-12. Defense counsel objected again and averred there was no reference to Poland in the call and that this was “pure speculation.” Defense counsel went on to say, “And I’d ask the Court to instruct,” and was cut off. The court sustained the objection stating, “if it’s not referred to.” R. 218, ll. 15-22. After that the solicitor asked the same question again and Kinard responded that he had heard the words FBI in the call. Kinard opined that in his training and experience it was another reference to appellant believing Poland was a “snitch” or “rat.” R. 218, l. 23-219, l. 4.

During closing, the solicitor referred to state’s 2, Ballard’s body worn camera video, and state’s exhibit 17, audio clips from appellant’s jail call. R. 301, ll. 6-15; 303, ll. 6-13. The solicitor said “now, I know that’s hard to hear, but he said exactly what Detective Kinard heard and talked about.” R. 303, ll. 6-13.

### **Discussion**

Deciphering what was heard in both the body worn camera video and in appellant’s jail phone call clips was the job of the jury in this case and each piece of evidence should speak for itself. Officer Kinard was not testifying as an expert in this case. He was purely a fact witness, testifying about his involvement investigating Poland’s death. Kinard was not qualified as an expert in this case and should not have been allowed to give an opinion on what the jury heard in the evidence before it, including video from Ballard’s body worn camera and appellant’s jail phone calls. Neither was Kinard qualified to give an opinion on what something that may, or may not, have been said in the recordings meant.

In the body worn camera video it is difficult to understand what Poland is saying. The background noise in the video is distracting and Poland, seriously injured and confused, is difficult to understand when he speaks.

The recording of appellant's jail phone call was between appellant and a woman he was romantically involved with. The contents of call revolved around her finding out that appellant was romantically involved with another woman when he was arrested. The state took appellant's phone call out of context when it played three clips totaling two and a half minutes of a fifteen-minute call. Listening to the call in its entirety makes it clear this call had nothing to do Lennon Poland or the shooting. The portion of the call where Kinard testified that appellant said "FBI," was admittedly difficult to understand in the short clip. Listening to this portion in the context of the entire conversation appellant seemingly said, "why that [expletive] have to come down and get in my business." Court's exhibit 7, appellant's jail phone call, at timestamp 14.28. Appellant is referring to the other woman, he never refers to Poland or the incident during the conversation.

If the witness is not testifying as an expert, the witness'[s] testimony in the form of opinions or inferences is limited to those opinions or inferences which (a) are rationally based on the perception of the witness, (b) are helpful to a clear understanding of the witness'[s] testimony or the determination of a fact in issue, and (c) do not require special knowledge, skill, experience or training. Rule 701, SCRE.

"Expert testimony differs from lay testimony in that an expert witness is permitted to state an opinion based on facts not within his firsthand knowledge...." *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 445–46, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010). "On the other hand, a lay witness may only testify as to matters within his personal knowledge and may not offer opinion testimony which requires special knowledge, skill, experience, or training." *Id.* at 446, 699 S.E.2d at 175; *see also State v. Douglas*, 380 S.C. 499, 502, 671 S.E.2d 606, 608 (2009) ("Lay witnesses are permitted to offer testimony in the form of opinions or inferences if the opinions or inferences are rationally based on the witness'[s] perception, and will aid the jury in understanding testimony,

and do not require special knowledge.”). “Testimony in the form of an opinion or inference otherwise admissible is not objectionable because it embraces an ultimate issue to be decided by the trier of fact.” *State v. Fripp*, 396 S.C. 434, 439, 721 S.E.2d 465, 467 (Ct. App. 2012) (quoting Rule 704, SCRE). *State v. Westmoreland*, 421 S.C. 410, 419, 807 S.E.2d 701, 706 (Ct. App. 2017)

Our Supreme Court considered a related matter in *State v. Ellis*, 345 S.C. 175, 547 S.E.2d 490 (2001), that Court found reversible error where an officer qualified as an expert in crime scene processing essentially testified as a crime scene reconstruction expert about the position of the victim at the time he was shot. This went to the heart of Ellis’s claim of self-defense, and the police officer was not qualified as an expert witness to give an opinion on the ultimate issue before the jury. *See State v. Ellis*, 345 S.C. 175, 178, 547 S.E.2d 490, 491 (2001), *citing State v. Wilkins*, 305 S.C. 272, 407 S.E.2d 670 (Ct. App. 1991).