RECEIVED

Jun 14 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM COLLETON COUNTY
Honorable Thomas W. Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-000452

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

JERMAINE SILAS WHITE,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JULIANNA E. BATTENFIELD
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103135

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

DUFFIE STONE
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 366
Walterboro, SC 29488
(843) 549-6327

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. Appellant’s claim that the trial court erred when it permitted Detective Kinard to testify about “eating the cheese” as a lay witness is not preserved for appellate review. Even if it were, the detective’s testimony was proper under 602 & 701, SCRE, as it was based on his personal knowledge of the case and resulted from a thought process common to ordinary man. One does not have to be a specialist in a field to conclude “cheese” could mean “rat.”

Appellant argues the trial court erred by allowing Detective Kinard to testify as a lay witness about a statement recorded on a body camera. IBOA at 7-8. When asked why Jermaine White shot him, the victim stated, “eating the cheese,” or “I don’t eat cheese, he thinks I’m telling” R. 44-45, 217. However, the defense did not contemporaneously object when the trial court allowed Kinard to testify to the statement’s meaning as a lay witness. Therefore, this claim is not preserved for appellate review. *State v. Johnson*, 324 S.C. 38, 41, 476 S.E.2d 681, 682 (1996); *State v. Vanderbilt*, 287 S.C. 597, 598, 340 S.E.2d 543, 543-544 (1986) (eliminating in *favorem vitae* review in all but death penalty cases and holding issues not preserved at trial may not be raised for the first time on appeal); *State v. Torrence*, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991) (eliminating in *favorem vitae* review in death penalty cases as well and holding a contemporaneous objection is required to properly preserve an error for appellate review.)

“[T]his court will not consider issues not raised to or ruled upon by the trial judge.” *State v. Williams*, 303 S.C. 410, 411, 401 S.E.2d 168, 169 (1991); *State v. Woodruff*, 300 S.C. 265, 387 S.E.2d 453 (1989). “A defendant must object at his first opportunity to preserve an issue for appellate review.” *Williams*, 303 S.C. at 411, 401 S.E.2d at 169. “[A]n objection should be sufficiently specific to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so it can be reasonably understood by the trial judge.” *State v. Prioleau*, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001); *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003).

Among other matters, the defense, the State, and the trial court discussed the admissibility of Officer Ballard's body camera footage and the statements on it by the victim and Mark McQune before the trial began. R. 7-64. The defense objected to hearsay, reliability, and prejudice regarding the admissibility of McCune's statement of, "Jermaine, Jermaine, Jermaine White, Silas White's son," and the victim's statements of "White." R. 12-14, 39-41. The trial court held McQune's statement was inadmissible but held the victim's multiple and repeated affirmations that Jermaine White was the one who shot him admissible as a dying declaration. R. 18-19, 39-40. However, even though the solicitor brought up the "eating the cheese" matter pre-trial, the defense did not object or move that the statement be excluded on a lay witness ground. Id. The only part of the transcript that even "hints" the defense may have objections to Detective Kinard testifying to "eating the cheese" was pre-trial:

Attorney Mathews: And now all of a sudden there was no motive, and for some reason they've got the makings of a motive. That's one of the problems with the state's case in the beginning is McQune says in his interview in, you know, did they argue or not? I don't think Jermaine knows himself why he did this.

That's one of the things McCord says in his interview. So we don't have any – you know, we've got hints and shadows of things that create, that create suggestions. And this is why, Your Honor, frankly, I need a gatekeeper on this because I don't know the jury – it's a lot for the jury [to] do.

R. 41-42.

That is not a clear and discernable objection to the lay witness matter that would properly allow this Court to entertain it. That is a hint and a shadow of an objection, not an actual one.

The solicitor raised the matter pre-trial with:

Solicitor Evans: I hope I understand your ruling and that we'll be permitted to play that [redacted portion of the body camera video].

The Court: You would be. And, of course, the entirety of the video, of course, will be made a part of the record for appellate review.

Solicitor Evans: . . . There is also, you know, as far as not having a motive, Mr. Poland makes additional comments which are visible on the video other than the actual identity of the shooter. At one point he says, he says, **I'm telling, but I don't eat cheese.**

The theory by law enforcement, and I think it's supported by this natural language of what he's saying, is that Mr. Poland believed that Mr. White did this because Mr. White believed Mr. Poland was informing to the police about various things, whatever they may be. There's no evidence that he was, at the time, an informant. But that's evidence coming straight from Mr. Poland.

R. 44-45.

The defense does not respond to Solicitor Evans' comments and the court concluded the "eating the cheese" discussion by saying, "ok". R. 45-46.

During trial, the solicitor called Detective Kevin Kinard to the stand. R. 173-174.

Solicitor Evans: You reviewed – as part of your investigation and certainly earlier today at trial you saw and heard Mr. Ballard's body camera video, correct?

Kinard: I did.

Solicitor Evans: What, if anything, did you learn from that, you know, other than his identification? . . . What, if anything, did you learn from the video that Mr. Poland said on that video?

Kinard: Right. At one point in the video Ballard asked him, like, why he did it, or he keeps mumbling, eating the cheese, like, he thinks I'm telling, eating the cheese, some references to that.

Solicitor Evans: And did that mean anything to you in your training and experience?

Kinard: It does. I mean, telling and then eating the cheese is a common term for, if you're a rat, or, like, a snitch or telling on somebody, or, like, you know, you would be talking to the police over some issues . . . criminal.

Solicitor Evans: About somebody committing some kind of crime?

Kinard: Correct.

Solicitor Evans: Rat and snitch are street words for informant?

Kinard: Correct.

R. 216-217.

At that point, the solicitor then begins to ask Detective Kinard about the jail calls. The defense *later* objects to the Appellant's statement of "FBI" on the jail call twice but does *not* object to the "cheese" reference at his first opportunity or in a post-trial motion. In fact, the phrase "lay witness" does not appear in the transcript at all until the judge's charge. The judge instructed the jury on the difference between lay and expert witnesses in his charge, but that was likely because Michelle Eichenmiller testified as an expert. R. 329-331. The defense did not raise the issue clearly or firmly enough to give the trial court the opportunity to rule on it. Therefore, the "cheese" issue is not preserved for appellate review. Even if it were though, the testimony was admissible under Rules 602 and 701, SCRE.

The State never moved to qualify Detective Kinard as an expert as the testimony was admissible as general or lay witness testimony. The explanation that "cheese" meant "rat" was well within Detective Kinard's personal knowledge and helped the jury understand the steps he took in deciding whom to arrest as the lead detective on the case. Under Rule 602, SCRE, a witness may testify to any matter as long as there is any evidence introduced to support a finding that they have personal knowledge of the matter. "Evidence to prove personal knowledge **may, but need not, consist of the witness' own testimony.**" Rule 602, SCRE. The witness may give an opinion or inference as a lay witness if the testimony is **(a)** rationally based on his or her perception; **(b)** is helpful to a clear understanding of the witness' testimony or a determination of

a fact in issue; and (c) does not require special knowledge, skill, experience, or training. Rule 701, SCRE.

The solicitor asked Detective Kinard if he had learned anything from any of Mr. Poland's statements on the body camera (that helped him in his investigation), and he answered, “[a]t one point on the video Ballard asked him, like, why he did it, or he keeps mumbling, eating the cheese, like, he thinks I’m telling, eating the cheese, some reference to that.” R. 217. It is worth pointing out that the victim did explain his own “cheese” statement by saying, “he thinks I’m telling.” The solicitor then asked Kinard if that meant anything to him in his training and experience and he said, “It does.” R. 217. He was affirming on the record that he had personal knowledge of what the phrase meant as a law enforcement officer in general *and* as lead detective. He was giving the jury yet another glimpse into his mind about the steps he took and the evidence he reviewed when deciding to seek arrest warrants for Jermaine White.

Even if the defense had brought up the lay versus expert discussion at trial, Kinard's brief testimony did not fall within the parameters for expert testimony. It was testimony derived from a thought process common to ordinary men and is a conclusion that resulted from a process of reasoning familiar to everyday life. Thus, squarely lay testimony. “[T]he distinction between lay and expert witness testimony is that lay testimony ‘results from a process of reasoning familiar in everyday life,’ while expert testimony ‘results from a process of reasoning which can be mastered only by specialists in the field.’” *United States v. Yanez Sosa*, 513 F.3d 194, 200 (5th Cir. 2008) (emphasis added). “As explained by the Second Circuit, ‘a lay opinion must be the product of reasoning processes familiar to the average person in everyday life.’” *Id.* (quoting *United States v. Garcia*, 413 F.3d 201, 215 (2d Cir. 2005)).

Making the jump from “eating the cheese” to “rat” to “informant” is not something one needs a Ph.D., peer reviewed articles, or specialized data to understand, or is a hypothesis the jury must accept on faith, “not capable of proof or disproof in court and not even generally accepted outside the courtroom.” *State v. Jones*, 273 S.C. 723, 731, 259 S.E.2d 120, 124 (1979). It is not a process of reasoning which can be mastered only by specialists in the field. Therefore, it would not have been admissible as expert testimony even if that point had been raised.⁵ In fact, “experts may *not* testify as to matters of common knowledge or experience” *McBeth v. TNS Mills, Inc.*, 319 S.C. 388, 392, 458 S.E.2d 52, 54 (Ct. App. 1995) (cleaned up.) “**Expert testimony is only essential where the topic is not a matter within the common knowledge and experience of most lay persons.**” Advisory Committee’s Notes, Rule 701, SCRE (2021).

This Court adeptly provided two examples of matters that *would* be outside the common knowledge and experience of most lay persons in *Spartanburg Regional Med. Center v. Bulsa* and *Armstrong v. Union Carbide*.⁶ In *Spartanburg Regional*, the process of how to treat severe burns and how much it costs was definitively ruled as a matter outside the common knowledge and experience of most lay persons. In *Armstrong*, the medical effect of inhalation of ethylene glycol was definitively ruled as a matter outside the common knowledge and experience of most individuals. That is simply not the case with the meaning of the phrase “eating the cheese.” Therefore, the need did not exist for the State to move that Detective Kinard by qualified as an expert because his testimony was properly admissible under Rules 602 or 701, SCRE. “[S]o long

⁵ A lay opinion must be based on personal perception, must be one that a normal person would form from those perceptions, and must be helpful to the jury. *United States v. Riddle*, 103 F.3d 423, 428 (5th Cir. 1997); *United States v. Cuti*, 720 F.3d 453, 460 (2d Cir. 2013) (lay opinion testimony was proper, because the “witnesses testified based only on their experiences with matters pertinent to this case, and their reasoning was evident to the jury”).

⁶ *Spartanburg Regional Med. Center v. Bulsa*, 308 S.C. 322, 325, 417 S.E.2d 648, 650 (Ct. App. 1992); *Armstrong v. Union Carbide*, 308 S.C. 235, 238, 417 S.E.2d 597, 599 (Ct. App. 1992).

as the jury, by virtue of common experience, is capable of resolving a factual issue, it will not be prevented from doing so because of the absence of expert testimony.” *Scott v. Sears, Roebuck & Co.*, 789 F.2d 1052, 1055 (4th Cir. 1986). This Court should affirm.

II. This issue is also not preserved for appellate review. If this Court finds differently, however, the record shows no error in the trial court's treatment of Appellant's objections to "FBI." The trial court sustained the defense twice when the detective testified about the jail call reference and the defense did not ask for a curative instruction when he continued to explain. Even so, if there was error here, it was harmless. Appellant cannot show prejudice as there was separate, conclusive evidence of his guilt.

Appellant argues the trial court abused its discretion by permitting Detective Kinard to explain what "FBI" meant to the jury as a lay witness. The State disagrees and submits Appellant's argument is without merit. First, this issue is not preserved for review as the defense only objected to (and the court only ruled on) speculation. No contemporaneous objection to Detective Kinard testifying to what "FBI" meant as a lay instead of an expert witness can be found in the record. However, if this Court disagrees and finds the objection was preserved, the solicitor asked permissible questions well within the court's rulings and the detective mostly remained within those rulings. The defense did not then move the court to instruct the jury to disregard any allegedly out-of-bounds statements or move for a curative instruction (even though one was likely not needed). Therefore, Judge Cooper appropriately responded to the defense within his zone of discretion. Even so, it was proper lay witness testimony under Rules 602 and/or 701. If there was any error here at all, it was harmless because the Appellant cannot show prejudice. There was a plethora of separate, conclusive evidence from which the jury could have drawn Appellant's guilt.

Even though motive is never something the State is required to prove, the solicitors sought to introduce testimony that might help the jury piece together what had happened. R. 303. For example, Jermaine White was recorded on a jail call telling his girlfriend Tonya, "that's what I told FBI, man, why'd you have to come out here and get in my business? He says, 'I'm telling.'" R. 170-171, 217-219, 303; State's Exhibits 7, 17. The solicitor raised this issue pre-

trial but the defense did not object to its admission. R. 45. Detective Kinard was then asked about the Appellant's jail call statement at trial and the following conversation occurred:

Solicitor Evans: What, if anything, did you hear in that jail phone call?

Attorney Mathews: Objection, Your Honor. I think that that's in evidence and we can all make our own conclusions on that.

The Court: You can refer to what part of it he's talking about, but it will speak for itself. It's already in evidence. It was already played.

Solicitor Evans: Yes, Sir. Did you hear Mr. White refer to Mr. Poland as the FBI?

Kinard: I did.

Solicitor Evans: What does that mean to you –

Attorney Mathews: Excuse me.

Solicitor Evans: --- in your training?

Attorney Mathews: Excuse me. Your Honor, I object to this. He's referring to what – there is no reference to Lennon Poland in any of that jail talk. In all of this, there's not a single reference to Lennon Poland. As far as who they're talking about, this is pure speculation. And I'd ask the Court to instruct –

Solicitor Evans: I'd be happy to rephrase that.

The Court: I'll sustain the objection if it's not referred to.

Solicitor Evans: Did you hear the words FBI?

Kinard: I did.

Solicitor Evans: What does that mean? I mean, we know what FBI is. But again, in your training and experience, you know some slang that we don't; correct?

Kinard: Right. That would also be synonymous with a snitch or a rat.

Solicitor Evans: Thank you. Was Mr. Poland, to the best of your knowledge, an informant with any agency around here?

Kinard: Not that I know of. Not with Walterboro Police Department.

Solicitor Evans: You looked into that?

Kinard: I did, yes. I would know.

R. 218-219.

The defense did not make a lay witness objection. They object, and explain their objection by saying, “we can all make our own conclusions on that.” The court responds in the same vein, saying the detective could refer to what was said, but that “it [would] speak for itself.” That is an objection and a response to speculation. The defense then objected a second time to what apparently was speculation and the court responded in kind. Speculation is very different than a lay versus expert witness objection. The issue the defense now raises was not properly specific enough at trial to preserve for appellate review pursuant to Rule 103, SCRE.

But for argument’s sake and out of respect for the spirit of Rule 103, the record does not show that the trial court erred in its treatment of either of the defense’s objections. The trial court agreed with the defense that the testimony should be limited to ensure the detective did not “make an assumption or guess based on a small amount of data or none at all,” the definition of “speculate.” Black’s Law Dictionary, 2nd ed. However, the solicitor cured the lack of foundation issue when he asked the detective about where his knowledge came from, which is a proper way to lay foundation for testimony admissible under Rule 602, SCRE. He told the jury he had personal knowledge of what “FBI” meant from his training and experience as a law enforcement officer. That personal knowledge could help an ordinary, reasonable jury understand the specific steps Detective Kinard took in making his decision to arrest Jermaine White in this specific case.

Therefore, it was general, personal knowledge testimony under Rule 602 *and* proper lay witness opinion or inference testimony under Rule 701. This testimony did not require Detective Kinard to be a specialist or master in the field of street slang in order to be able to testify to it; again, as referenced in section one, the thought processes of ordinary jurors could easily make the jump from “FBI” to “snitch.” It was also helpful to the jury to understand and to determine a fact in issue; to wrap their heads around why the crime may have occurred. Thus, the testimony was proper under Rules 602 and 701 and this Court should affirm.

To add to that, the meaning of “FBI” was merely a minor puzzle piece in the major, big picture Detective Kinard put together to make an arrest. Kinard arrived on scene shortly after the 911 call, conferred with Officers Ballard and McQuinn, observed the scene, and collected evidence, including the .25 caliber shell casing, DNA swabs of the chair, bucket, vomit, blood spot, etc. R. 173-183. He then responded with other officers to 368 Cleveland Street after obtaining information that Jermaine White was at the house and after procuring a search warrant. R. 183. He noticed smoke coming from the chimney in the middle of July and found a cell phone, clothing, and other items actively burning in the fireplace when he arrived. R. 183-185. He took photos of the crime scene, recovered the .25 caliber Titan pistol, its magazine, and .25 caliber Remington ammunition from a Family Dollar plastic bag, along with the fire-damaged cell phone, and other evidence. R. 185-193.

He interviewed Jermaine, walked him through the process of waiving his *Miranda* rights,⁷ and conferred with officers once again all before arresting White for attempted murder and then murder after the victim died days later. R. 193-216. Kinard learning that Jermaine White possibly referred to the victim as “FBI”, or a snitch, was simply one of the many pieces of

⁷ *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1996).

the puzzle the detective had that contributed to his decision to arrest Appellant. It was proper for the jury to hear them all, as each helped them understand how the case progressed. Nevertheless, the record does not show the trial court erred in its treatment of the defense's objections. Judge Cooper limited the testimony and ensured the proper foundation was laid even though the detective continued his testimony.

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